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‘In their bestselling book FINEST HOUR historians Phil Craig and Tim Clayton used dramatic first-person testimony to tell the story of the Battle of Britain with an immediacy and excitement that won huge critical acclaim. END OF THE BEGININNING … is an equally enthralling account of the desperate summer of 1942 … with masses of fascinating and revealing original material.’


DAILY MAIL


‘An impressive range of interviews with survivors. Their “You are there” technique works powerfully in conveying the gut-wrenching fear of facing Rommel in the turret of a tank, or trying to evade a Stuka attack while manoeuvring an ammunition-packed merchantman en route to besieged Malta.’


THE SUNDAY TIMES


‘Poignant … this is Britain bloodied and very nearly bowed.’


GUARDIAN


‘As with their earlier collaboration Clayton and Craig prove themselves adept at knitting together a range of personal narratives to present a vivid worm’s eye view of history. The myriad human dramas are compelling … The action veers back and forth from the skies over Germany to the bloody beaches of Dieppe and the deadly waters of the Mediterranean, [but] the struggle between the Desert Rats and the Afrika Korps forms the backbone of their study.’


EASTERN DAILY PRESS


‘This is a splendid book, well worth reading along with official histories, for it puts many of the facts into the experience of ordinary men and women caught up in an unwanted but necessary war.’


YORKSHIRE GAZETTE & HERALD


‘The first-person formula of a mosaic of stories gives a swashbuckling narrative feel to actions that sweep both through North Africa and Europe. It is a juggernaut of a book that never stops rolling, immediate in its impact and underpinned with great humour.’


OXFORD TIMES


‘A matchless picture of a desperate year … It is magnificent.’


WESTERN DAILY PRESS
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7 Armoured Division Intelligence Summary No. 32, 24 May 1942


REPORT ON INTERROGATION1 OF STABFELDWEBEL DEUTCH-MEISTER


At HQ 30 Corps and HQ 7 Armoured Division.


General


An unsatisfactory man. He was glad to be captured, and to be out of the war …


Unit


HQ 90 Light Division – attached to the Signals of the Engineering Section.


Circumstances of capture


He was marking a gap in a minefield … when his truck ran on a mine, killing his driver. He was shot at by the ITALIANS, despite the fact that he fired the appropriate Very light signals. Dislikes ITALIANS. After wandering all night he was picked up by our patrols at U 4322.


The following facts were established


(i) Part, at least, of HQ 90 Light Division is in the area SW of SEGNALI.


(ii) 155 Lorried Infantry Regiment is definitely there, and probably 900 Engineering Battalion.


(iii) HQ 90 Light Division is in direct wireless communication with HQ Panzerarmee Afrika.


(iv) Some GERMAN tanks are in that area also (on one occasion he mentioned 50, and on another 300). These are part of 5 Tank Regiment (21 Panzer Division). NB. It will be remembered that Tactical Reconnaissance on 22 May reported 20 tanks and 15 Armoured Cars at U 6151.


Opinion


Everybody was sure that an attack was due to take place within a few days, and heavy punishments had been promised those who talked unduly – he was surprised that the ‘panzerangriff’ had not already commenced.




Chapter 1
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25–27 May
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7 Armoured Division Intelligence Summary No. 331


(Based on Information Received up to 2000 hrs 25 May 42) This Summary will be destroyed within 48 hrs of receipt.


1. GENERAL.


Again an extremely quiet day over the whole of our front. Visibility steadily worsened all day, and the enemy was almost inactive …


Peter Vaux paused, pencil in hand. He wanted to add ‘too damn quiet’, but such phrases had no place in an intelligence report. He continued to write in the requisite prosaic, codified style, capitalising proper names and double-checking grid references. Every day he was more certain that an attack was imminent and that it would fall here in the south.


That 90 Light Division’s headquarters had moved his way was particularly suspicious. So too was the presence of that engineering officer with the unusual name, Deutch-Meister, who they’d caught making gaps in the minefields opposite Bir Hacheim. In Vaux’s view, 90 Light would spearhead the attack as they had before. But his superiors at both Corps and Eighth Army headquarters were not convinced; they all thought that Rommel’s main strike would come farther north, aimed straight at Tobruk. That’s where the panzer divisions were marked in blue on the map mounted on the bulkhead behind Peter’s driver’s compartment. But would the German tanks stay there? Vaux thought not.


It was his job to see things from the enemy’s point of view. If he were Rommel, he would certainly avoid the British minefields and defensive ‘boxes’ up north and try to sweep round the southern flank. This, after all, was what the German training manual recommended. Vaux had a copy in his desk drawer. Eighth Army command had allowed for this eventuality by placing 7 Armoured Division here in the south. Captain Peter Vaux, not yet twenty-six, was the intelligence officer for the division, responsible for placing the best possible information in the hands of General Frank Messervy, who commanded its 13,000 men and 227 tanks. Vaux glanced up at the scattered red flags on the map. The tanks were thinly spread, as if to reassure the infantry that they would not have to face the enemy alone.


Vaux had begun his career in the Royal Tank Regiment, where he had been taught that the strengths of the tank were mobility and armament, and that both must be used together. Armour should be employed in a mobile block that could react to any sudden changes on the battlefield. But right along the line, all the way north to Gazala on the coast, the British armour was split up for close infantry support, into units too small to resist a big offensive, and too far forward to escape.


He continued with his report.


ENEMY DISPOSITION


(i) A patrol to grid reference U 8078 on the night of May 22/23 reports a position, probably ITALIAN, 80 yards WEST, and much digging there during the night. The captured map on April 22 showed this area to be held by 155 Lorried Infantry Regiment, which had moved by 10 May and has apparently been relieved by ITALIANS …


A German battalion replaced by an Italian one; another sign that Rommel was massing his best units somewhere. But where? Over the last few weeks Vaux had been on reconnaissance behind the German lines and had visited the Long Range Desert Group at the Siwa oasis. He’d pored over air reconnaissance reports and radio intercepts and laboriously mapped out every detail he could discover of German and Italian positions. He’d sent out patrols and spies and interrogated prisoners. Only yesterday the Free French had brought in an Italian on a donkey posing as an Arab. By coincidence, John Bagot Glubb, the greatest English expert on Arab affairs, happened to be visiting. He cracked the Italian by making him undress and pointing out that his clean underwear gave the lie to his story of having travelled for three weeks. The man had then confessed that he had been sent to search for British positions. The Free French who had initially captured him had been suspicious, so they said, because he was young and handsome and the Arab woman accompanying him was old and ill favoured. Bravo for Gallic intuition. Vaux decided to include a spicy account of all this in the next intelligence report. But he sympathised with Colonel von Mellenthin, who would have been responsible for the unlucky Italian spy. Only last month Peter had almost sent someone the Germans’ way with a box of Swan Vesta matches in his pocket.


He attached the appendices: the latest estimate of Italian strength; a German officer’s impression of the progress of the war; and a long list of the locations and content of enemy store dumps. He marvelled at the detail. He sometimes wondered how they got some of this information. Surely the Long Range Desert Group couldn’t come up with all of it?


Time of Signature 2330. P.A.L. Vaux, Capt.


Vaux swivelled the chair towards the door of ACV2, the great armour-plated monster that was his office, and reached for the phone to call for a clerk. The two radio operators were still on duty at the massive No. 9 sets at the back of the vehicle. He would check the typing tomorrow and then dispatch riders in jeeps would distribute copies throughout the division. He jumped down from the armoured command vehicle and made his way to the ‘chateau’, an untidy structure improvised from wireless aerials and Italian groundsheets, where he slept and kept his personal possessions. He stepped over the sleeping figure of his friend Donald Reid and rolled out his sleeping bag.
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There were times when Peter Vaux thought he was fated to fight Erwin Rommel for ever. In May 1940, when Vaux had taken part in his first tank battle, Rommel had been the opponent. The general had almost died that day in northern France when fire from the British tanks killed his aide-de-camp standing next to him. If they had got him it would have saved everyone a lot of trouble. As it was, he gave them a first-hand demonstration of what German 88mm anti-aircraft guns could do when turned against tanks. Peter’s colonel was killed that day, along with half of the Royal Tank Regiment men he’d trained with.


When he arrived in the desert in February 1941, Rommel was there to meet him. The British had just won a spectacular victory over the Italians but Rommel soon smashed his way through and surrounded the port of Tobruk. During the long siege, Vaux was promoted. He became an intelligence officer at 7 Armoured Division, trying to learn everything he could about his opponents and their habits, especially Herr Rommel’s habits. In December 1941 Tobruk was relieved and on Christmas Eve the crew of ACV2 celebrated with liberated bottles of Chianti and a barbecued goat. But Rommel hadn’t finished with him yet. The panzers rolled forward again in January 1942, driving everyone back to this new Gazala line just short of Tobruk. In the meantime Vaux had been promoted again and was now the division’s senior intelligence man.


They had just got a new general. Brave and personable, Frank Messervy was an old Etonian who had been a cavalry officer in the Great War. In the following years he had distinguished himself playing polo in India. His drawback as commander of an armoured division was that he had no training, and very little experience, with tanks. This was something that his junior officers, trained in mechanised warfare, sometimes found more than a little frustrating.
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On the morning of 26 May, Peter Vaux’s superiors at 30 Corps issued their response to his opinion that Rommel’s main attack would come in the south. But their Operation Instruction No. 46 was a disappointment: ‘It still appears probable that the main weight of the enemy offensive will be in the north.’ They allowed that some part of 90 Light Division might make a feint attack in the south, along with the Italian Ariete Division that was already there, but that was it. Couldn’t they see that if the headquarters of 90 Light was here, then the whole lot would almost certainly follow?


So we are to expect a small German feint and possibly an Italian armoured division, thought Vaux. Well, perhaps they’re right. Perhaps they know something that I don’t. Let’s hope so.


At 1400 that afternoon, after a brief artillery bombardment, four divisions of Italian infantry attacked the northern sector of the Gazala line. In order to deceive the British, a small number of German tanks led the assault. Meanwhile the rest of the German army gathered in their assembly area near Segnali. In the early evening part of this force moved off north towards the point of the Italian attack. Rommel blessed his luck. A violent sandstorm that had raged for most of the day, cleared just in time for the regular British evening reconnaissance flight to witness this diversion. As soon as the planes had flown over, all the German tanks turned abruptly south.


At 2030 the shadow-boxing ended and Rommel ordered ‘Operation Venezia’ to begin in earnest. Four divisions with 560 tanks and 10,000 other vehicles headed exactly where Peter Vaux had predicted they would: south-east towards Bir Hacheim, the Well of Dogs, the strongpoint that marked the southern end of the Allied line.


Rommel’s men were experienced, used to winning, and confident in their own ability. Before midnight the Luftwaffe began to drop flares to guide the advance columns forward.
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Pat Bland opened the bidding: ‘One club.’


The hurricane lamp threw dramatic shadows about B troop’s signals truck, where Bland was teaching two friends from D troop how to play contract bridge. Battery Sergeant-Major Earnshaw was deep in thought, counting on his fingers like a five-year-old. He was the senior man present, and a leader his men had come to rely on through the siege of Tobruk. The captain had recommended him for a commission after that, but the Officers Training Unit had rejected him, just as Earnshaw had predicted they would. He didn’t have the right accent for an officer.


‘No bid, as usual,’ he said.


Harold Harper studied his cards, trying to remember what Pat Bland had taught him about a replying hand. It was only his second lesson, and Bland was a demanding teacher. ‘One heart. No, sorry, I meant diamonds.’


Earnshaw: ‘Hey, that’s cheating.’


Hewson: ‘The red pointy ones, you mean?’ Mack Hewson was taking the piss as usual. He did have the right voice, more or less. Hewson, like Bland, was a sergeant in B troop and both had been to Nottingham High School, the senior grammar school in town. But even they were not quite at ease with the public school boys in the officers’ mess.


Harper: ‘Yes, diamonds, sorry, got them mixed up.’


Hewson: ‘OK, you’re going one diamond. My partner Mr Earnshaw has his usual rubbish, so no sodding bid as well.’


Bland: ‘Well, with a hand like this I have to do it, lads. Three no trumps. Try to watch how I play them, Harold.’


Bland played out the tricks as Harper looked on in bemused admiration, marvelling at the way his partner quickly worked out what everybody else had in their hands. No trumps was weird. Even with a handful of kings and queens, you could be completely powerless once a skilful opponent seized the initiative. ‘Bring out your dead,’ said Bland with a grin as he neared the end of the contract, laying down his winning twos and threes, and the rest of them threw away their useless aces and kings.


‘Shit!’ said Hewson. ‘Blast!’ muttered Earnshaw. Harper chuckled. Claude Earnshaw was the only soldier he’d ever met who never swore. ‘Eh, Harold, how’s Marion?’ asked Bland. ‘Haven’t heard from her in weeks,’ said Harper. He hadn’t seen her for two years either. Boots of Nottingham, where Harper had been training to become a store manager, was in another world now, and so was Marion. He couldn’t really blame her if she got fed up waiting. All his mates were still in England, mostly tradesmen with the RAF or other sensible things like that. But he’d had to listen to that sergeant-major in his dad’s fish-and-chip shop: ‘Why don’t you join our lot?’ And that had been it. And where had it got him? Tobruk! Sitting in a gun pit in Tobruk for nearly a year, and now here. He hardly remembered what anyone back home looked like. His mother had died in November, just as they were fighting their way out of the place. He hadn’t seen her since that day on the station platform in 1940 when the South Nottinghamshire Hussars had all left town. He’d made a mistake on the gun director just after the padre had broken the news. The battery commander, Gerry Birkin, had just said, ‘That’s the first mistake I’ve ever seen you make, Harold.’ He was a good officer, Gerry Birkin, public schoolboy or not.


‘How’s your family Pat?’


‘My mum and dad won the county championship again.’


No wonder he was good.


Harper had passed his eleven-plus exam and gone to High Pavement: a grammar all right, but, in the finely graded system of English schools, an inferior establishment to Nottingham High in every respect. Nevertheless, among the coal miners who made up the bulk of his unit, Harper stood out as unusually literate and numerate. His dad had been a miner before he got his chip shop so Harold could mix with the men who taught him how to dig, but unlike them he also knew all about logarithms and how to use a slide rule. So Harper became a specialist. As assistant to Ivor Birkin, the battery commander’s younger brother, he helped to work out the fire programme for his troop of four 25-pounder guns, one of two troops in the eight-gun battery. All the way through Tobruk, as the men matured into hardened veterans, in every barrage Harper had written down instructions for the guns. They were a fine team, ‘The best bloody battery in the Pommy army’, like that Australian had said.


Sometimes they would do ‘OP’ duty. He and Ivor Birkin would go forward to an observation post in the front line or else climb a tower just behind it, up fifty feet of rickety scaffolding with German shells flying around. From there they would get number-one gun to bracket the target, fire long, then short, then all four guns would hit halfway. For six months they had held the line against every attack that Rommel could throw at them. Then they had broken out. For a while there had been great relief, a massive party on looted Italian wine, even a few days’ leave in Cairo. Now they were in the open desert and training for mobile warfare.


Harper and Birkin shared an armoured car, and they were supposed to move with the tanks of 22 Armoured Brigade, directing the fire of the guns to where the tank commanders needed it. It was a new kind of fighting, but they had trained hard. D troop could have all four guns in action within thirty seconds of getting a fire order. Earlier that evening Ivor Birkin had said, ‘I do not know what else we can do to make this troop more efficient.’


‘Do you think you’re getting the hang of it now?’ asked Pat Bland after another couple of contracts.


‘Well, it’ll take a bit more practice,’ Harper said.


‘In a few months we’ll have you up to county standard.’


‘Well, I don’t know about that. Better get some shut-eye anyway. Early start in the morning.’


Harper was fascinated by the desert stars. There seemed to be more than ever shone over Nottingham. They’d long ago mastered the art of finding their direction from the position of the more obvious constellations. Tonight there was a beautiful full spread, except when a flare across the minefield towards Bir Hacheim slightly spoiled the view.
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As Rommel’s army rolled forward through the darkness, Winston Churchill was thinking about the Battle of Austerlitz.2 The Prime Minister wanted to send his commanders in the desert a cable outlining some of the lessons of Napoleon’s most brilliant victory. General Alan Brooke was trying to persuade the Prime Minister that this was not the best moment.


In 1940 Brooke had supervised the British army’s frantic preparation for the expected German invasion, impressing Churchill so much that in November 1941 he asked him to become Chief of the Imperial General Staff (CIGS), the most important soldier in the empire. As CIGS he directly commanded the army, had considerable influence over the navy and air force and was at Churchill’s right hand as he made Britain’s war strategy.


But the daily consultations with his political master were the hardest part of Alan Brooke’s job. He nearly refused the post because he had seen how Churchill gradually undermined the former CIGS, his old friend John Dill. The Prime Minister’s disastrous juggling of forces in early 1941 was the low point. When Hitler invaded the Balkans, hardened divisions that had been thrashing the Italians in North Africa were hastily shipped to Greece. Arriving with minimal air support, they were quickly outmanoeuvred. Evacuated under a cloud of enemy aircraft, the British suffered heavy losses. This, the High Command agreed, was Churchill at his worst, the Churchill some remembered from the Great War: overconfident, endlessly interfering in military details, weakening a good strategic position to pursue a fantasy. From the moment he took over, Brooke was determined to prevent this kind of distraction and maintain a tight focus on the major strategic issues of the war.


Perhaps Churchill understood that he needed someone to contradict him. If so, then he could not have made a better choice. Strong willed and acid tongued, Alan Brooke was more than capable of standing up for himself. When faced with Churchill’s eloquent bluster he would lean towards him, say ‘I flatly disagree’, and break a pencil. At times they seemed about to growl at each other.


Brooke believed in discipline and plain speaking. Churchill liked men with a touch of flamboyance. Brooke damned people with remarks like ‘prima donna’ and ‘film star’. Churchill enjoyed being the centre of attention and would hold court in his crimson-and-gold dressing gown, suddenly burst into a popular song or prance around in an elderly man’s version of bayonet drill. Brooke craved domestic tranquillity and daydreamed about chopping logs with his children, long country walks, fishing and bird-watching. Churchill liked to talk strategy and history, drinking and philosophising late into the night with expansive gusto. When General Marshall, Brooke’s opposite number3 in Washington, complained that he only saw President Roosevelt once a month, Brooke – in a rare joke – groaned that it was his fate to see Winston at least every six hours.


Brooke regarded Churchill as a sixty-seven-year-old child, either bursting with a new enthusiasm or lost in an unfathomable rage; and he thought Churchill’s drinking made him petulant and headstrong. Yet there were sides of the man he admired deeply: his political skill, his courage, the way he could take and give bad news without flinching and still communicate an unshakeable confidence in ultimate victory. Brooke had seen defeatism at work in France, and he knew how close Britain’s leaders had come to the collapse of their own will to resist. For preventing this apparently inevitable end he would always respect his Prime Minister. But, as he mastered his job, he became ever more convinced that this dangerous child-man should be kept as far away from professional soldiers as was humanly possible.


He knows no details,4 has only got half the pictures in his mind, talks absurdities and makes my blood boil to listen to his nonsense … It is far better that the world should never know, and never suspect the feet of clay of that otherwise superhuman being. Without him England was lost for a certainty … with him England has been on the verge of disaster time and again.
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There were similarities between war in the desert and playing a tricky hand in no trumps. One small mistake and a position that looked very strong could quickly collapse. And once you started to lose, you lost a lot very quickly. Half a dozen well-placed 88s could destroy dozens of expensively produced tanks and their laboriously trained crews in minutes. A sudden outflanking panzer movement, one of Rommel’s favourite tricks, could neutralise the best artillery or infantry. It had happened time and time again. Military aces and kings lay burnt out and ruined all over the Western Desert.


The attack that was developing on 26 May was the latest in a campaign that had already seen both sides advance and retreat thousands of miles. Rommel’s plan, as Peter Vaux had guessed, was to round the Gazala line in the south, roll it up from the rear, take Tobruk at last, and then press deep into Egypt. The attacking force was even larger than Vaux had feared, consisting of Rommel’s four best divisions: 90 Light, 15 Panzer, 21 Panzer and the Italian Ariete.


The advance was shadowed by South African armoured cars, whose reports were passed to Vaux’s divisional headquarters and to his superiors at 30 Corps. But Corps remained convinced that what the armoured cars were reporting was exactly what they had anticipated: a diversionary move by, at the very most, an Italian division and a small German battle group. Peter Vaux was on duty for the first watch. When he went to bed at 0200, waking Donald Reid to take over from him, nothing at all alarming had been reported from Corps.


About 0300 on 27 May the enemy vanguard stopped to refuel just south of Bir Hacheim. More and more vehicles joined it, and the reports from the watching armoured cars took on a more urgent tone. In the middle of the night generals were woken and phone calls exchanged between 7 Armoured Division and 30 Corps, then between 30 Corps and Eighth Army HQ. The night-duty staff at Army and Corps wondered whether the South Africans might not, in the darkness, be exaggerating enemy numbers. Junior officers urged action but General Messervy and his superior at Corps, General Willoughby Norrie, remained calm. Norrie did ring General Lumsden, commander of the next nearest armoured division, to ask him to alert his tanks to be ready to support Messervy if necessary. Lumsden, who like Peter Vaux had a low opinion of Messervy’s ability to handle tanks, argued against committing them prematurely. So Norrie relented, awaiting confirmation of the situation by air reconnaissance at first light.
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The morning mist of 27 May was thinning out and the rising sun threw long purple shadows across the stony ground and desert scrub. Believe it or not, the birds were singing. Harold Harper was constantly surprised by the birdsong in the desert. Where did they all nest? And along the branches of the bushes that surrounded the little depression where they had spent the night were white snails, an amazing number of white snails crawling along the thick stalks of camel thorn. Harper stood up and stretched his arms and took in the beauty of the desert morning. Almost as far as he could see the vehicles of 520 battery, South Notts Hussars, were parked in a column ready for an early move. Their eight guns were drawn up in a line to the west of the trucks facing out over the minefields. The armoured car that Harper shared with Captain Ivor Birkin was parked near the front of the line so that they could speed off first in case of emergency. Other figures were rising around him and stretching and busying themselves. Birkin was still huddled in his blankets on the ground by the vehicle. It was Sergeant Harper’s turn to make breakfast.


He shook out his blankets. ‘Christ almighty!’ An angry snake fell from them and coiled itself on the ground in front of him, rearing up and hissing. Harper reached behind for a shovel and slashed wildly. The snake retreated, winding rapidly across the ground, and disappeared into a hole behind a stone. Not the best start to the day.


Harper unhooked a battered petrol can from the side of the armoured car, half filled it with sand, soaked the sand in petrol and set it alight. As ever, the ‘Benghazi burner’ gave off an intense heat. He half filled another petrol can with water and put it on to boil. He poured the water very carefully. Supplies were good for the present, but the stuff was still scarce and old habits died hard. The armoured car was chock-full of luxuries they had brought down from Cairo. He extracted a tin of Carnation milk, some oatmeal and salt for the porridge from among the other precious tins and bottles. But first, a good brew.


Boomhmh. The distant rumble of artillery. It seemed to come from the south, and that was puzzling. Yesterday all the noise had come from the north.


I’d got the porridge going and we were just having breakfast when the battery commander Gerry Birkin came up in his armoured car. He drove right up to us and pointed out this cloud of dust on the horizon – it would have been about five miles away. We thought it must be some of our troops manoeuvring but he said, ‘I think they’re Germans.’ We threw everything into the back of our armoured car and followed him.


The two armoured cars tore off to find the tanks that the South Notts battery was supposed to be supporting. The 25-pounders were designed to fight at a distance, but the acute shortage of decent British anti-tank guns meant that they were often pressed into providing close support for tanks. Harper was remembering his first close-up battle against panzers. It was at Tobruk, yelling the elevation angles at the gun crews through his megaphone, then firing over open sights at 3,000 yards at the fifteen or so tanks that had broken in. The men cheered every time they knocked one out. Two staff cars had stopped in full view and they had picked them both off with their ranging shots, with all the Australians cheering and one of them clapping the lieutenant right on the shoulder. Yes, he had fought tanks before, but that was from behind a prepared defence, not out in the open like this.
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General Messervy’s armour was in no position to resist Operation Venezia. Three regiments were dispersed across the desert, each with about sixty tanks. One was surprised and destroyed in its camp, the second was bypassed by the advancing panzers and the third deployed just in time to line up against the two hundred tanks of 15 Panzer Division. The British tank crews fought extremely fiercely and gave the enemy an unpleasant surprise. The Germans knew little about the new American Grant and its powerful 75mm gun. For a moment their attack stalled, the leading vehicles ablaze. But they sized up the threat, swept round the flanks and brought up their 88mm guns. Most of the Grants were soon burning. Meanwhile, Ariete Division attacked Bir Hacheim while 21 Panzer and 90 Light divisions drove on. Rommel’s great offensive was going to plan, and still the British generals hadn’t realised that this was no feint, but the real thing.


The next nearest tanks in the piecemeal British deployment were those of 22 Armoured Brigade, part of General Lumsden’s 1 Armoured Division, which included the mobile artillery batteries of the South Notts Hussars. When it became apparent that there was a genuine threat in the south, Lumsden was ordered to help Messervy. He complained that his men were not ready and orders reached his units only slowly. Harold Harper and the rest of the signals truck bridge school were farthest south, astride the ‘barrel track’ from Bir Hacheim, up which 21 Panzer Division was advancing at top speed.
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Harper was peering at the horizon, although the amount of dust in the air made it hard to see more than a hundred yards. He was in his armoured car with Ivor Birkin. Ahead, half obscured by the dust cloud, was Ivor’s brother Gerry’s car. They were both searching for the tanks that their gun battery was due to support. They were supposed to be near a barrel painted with the number 701, but they seemed to have disappeared.


Gerry Birkin’s car stopped. Another three hundred yards ahead were tanks, but they didn’t look like British ones. Birkin began to make calculations ready to radio back to the battery. If he was quick he could get fire down on these panzers before the Germans knew anything about it. He climbed down from the turret and asked his driver, Bobby Feakins, to check the figures. Feakins climbed up to the turret just as a shell landed behind them. ‘Whoops!’ said Birkin. They had not gone unnoticed after all. Feakins thought he saw a shape moving towards them in the dust. ‘Sir, quick!’ They swapped places again and Feakins quickly revved the engine and started to turn away from the danger.


He heard a noise, turned, and as he did so what was left of Gerry Birkin collapsed all over him. An armour-piercing shell had gone straight through his stomach. The same shell had beheaded two of the radio operators sitting behind. The third operator was screaming into his radio and, like Feakins, was covered in blood and worse. Feakins realised that some of the blood was his own. His first thought was that the armoured car was still a sitting duck. He slammed it into reverse gear and tried to press hard on the accelerator, feeling the strength draining from his leg as he did so. The car shot backward and with a great crash fell straight into a slit trench, where it stuck fast. Feakins pushed past Birkin’s body and lowered himself from the vehicle. He found that he had inadvertently run over the surviving radio operator, who had jumped from the back of the vehicle just as he reversed. Both his legs were broken.


Harold Harper and Ivor Birkin were still edging forward through the dust:


We were driving slowly, at about 10 mph, and we’d only gone about half a mile when we heard this very panicky garbled message on the radio. There was obviously something wrong ahead. Ivor and I climbed out of the turret, jumped down and ran over to Gerry Birkin’s car.


As Harper approached he saw the signaller burst from the back of the vehicle, saw him run over and then saw Bobby Feakins climb out and hang on to the back door.


We ran to the driver’s door to find out what the trouble was. I’d never seen anything like it in my life. There was Gerry lying there, obviously dead. I ran round to the back to get the signallers out. When I opened the doors, there they were sitting with their microphones still in their hands but they hadn’t got any heads. Their intestines and things were poking through what was left of their upper bodies and their heads were lying on the floor.


Ivor Birkin was utterly distraught and Harper couldn’t make him leave his brother, despite the obvious danger. ‘I said, “Come along, sir, you must come back.” He said, “No, you get back.”’ Harper obeyed the order and ran back to fetch the other armoured car.


I had just ordered the driver to turn. I pressed on his right shoulder to make him turn right and out of this great cloud of sand came one of our own tanks, a bloody great Grant, and it hit us head on. By this stage the whole of the desert around us was one great cloud of dust. We bounced back and the engine burst into flames. So we had to jump out. We dashed over to where Ivor Birkin was and told him what had happened. There we all were, stranded.


21 Panzer Division was now headed straight for the rest of 520 battery.
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The sergeants had been standing by B troop’s signal truck, gathered round the radio. It appeared that 22 Armoured Brigade HQ had no idea what was going on. Then they heard a voice on the inter-battery frequency whimpering incoherently and another screaming, ‘We’ve been hit! We’ve been hit!’ Then they saw the panzers.


‘Tanks alert! Take post! Independent gunfire! Open sights!’ Tank shells were falling all around the wagon lines.


Pat Bland and Mack Hewson sprinted to B troop’s guns. German tanks were coming over the ridge. Bland threw in his weight as they unhitched the gun from the limber and pushed it round. Drivers were digging all round, piling stones, frantically trying to create some cover for the gunners. Hewson, two hundred yards farther back, had his shoulder against the wheel of no. 4 gun.


‘GF target. HE 119 cap on!’


B troop had no choice but to fight where they stood. They got one panzer at close range but then Pat Bland’s gun took a direct hit and Bland was killed along with all his crew. At the last second Mack Hewson made a run for it. His crew bundled into a truck and weaved away through streams of tracer bullets. It was over very quickly. Fifteen men were killed outright. The troop that had defended Tobruk for nine long months barely lasted nine minutes of the mobile war for which it had trained so hard.


D troop was shielded from the oncoming tanks by B troop, which was directly in their line of fire. They wouldn’t be able to hit anything even if they tried, but they might just escape. The captain climbed on top of his vehicle and hoisted a blue flag. Sergeant Claude Earnshaw reacted to the signal immediately. ‘Get those guns moving! Go north!’ Guns and lorries pulled away with machinegun bullets bouncing in the sand. Earnshaw chivvied them on.


The South Notts men pulled back to a position next to what was called the ‘Knightsbridge box’, and there eventually they were joined by the remnants of the tank units that they were supposed to be supporting. Instead of fighting as an integrated, mobile unit, each subsection of tanks and artillery had been confronted with an overwhelming number of German tanks. All they could do now was dig in and wait.
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Alan Brooke knew how this war would be won: slowly and carefully. First there would be victory in the desert, then the conquest of North Africa. Next came command of the Mediterranean and perhaps a direct attack on Italy. But until the British army was better trained and substantial American forces were available, any bolder action was simply not practical. This meant no early invasion of occupied Europe.


Britain’s military reputation had been buoyed up by the heroics of 1940, and during 1941 the brave and much-publicised defence of Tobruk balanced failure in Greece. But since Christmas it had been disaster all the way. Japanese aircraft sunk two battleships, Prince of Wales and Repulse. At Singapore, the great eastern fortress, 85,000 British and Australian troops surrendered without even putting up a fight, or so the world believed. In February three of the German navy’s most powerful warships dashed through the English Channel, evading every attempt to intercept them. Foreign politicians and journalists wondered aloud whether the British had forgotten how to make war. For Churchill, with his keen sense of Britain’s glorious military traditions, it was almost too much to bear.


Brooke, who had to deal with Churchill’s outbursts against the High Command, always defended his subordinates in front of mere politicians, but in private he was angry and confused.


Cannot work out why troops are not fighting better.5 If the army cannot fight better than it is doing at present we shall deserve to lose our Empire … We are going to lose this war unless we control it very differently and fight it with more determination.


The battle that was developing along the Gazala line on 27 May gave Brooke and the generals under him the chance to show that they could fight with ‘control’ and ‘determination’ after all.




Chapter 2
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27 May
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Peter Vaux had spent weeks trying to persuade his superiors that 90 Light Division would spearhead Rommel’s attack. Now he was about to be proved right in a most unpleasant way.


Inside ACV1, dug into a pit and camouflaged with nets, General Messervy was trying to find out what was happening to the various brigades of 7 Armoured Division. At 0630 the Indian Motor Brigade had reported that an Italian armoured division was in front of them, and now they could not be contacted at all. It was not until the morning air reconnaissance report confirmed that over three hundred tanks were south of Bir Hacheim that the situation became clearer.


Donald Reid burst into the ‘chateau’ and woke Vaux with the news. He was soon listening in to the radio traffic in ACV2, trying to piece together enemy movements, and work out which units were involved. The Free French garrison at Bir Hacheim reported itself surrounded, but said it had repelled an attack by the Ariete Division. Around him orderlies were packing away tables and chairs, reeling in telephone lines, clearing the debris of a divisional headquarters into about forty lorries and the other ACVs responsible for signals, administration and cipher. The ‘chateau’ was being hastily dismantled and bundled into ACV1.


All the ACVs, distinctive with their armour plating, were now disguised as ordinary ten-ton lorries, their metal superstructures covered wtih sheets of rough hessian. ACV1, with General Messervy inside, ran up the blue flag, signalling an immediate move, and the other vehicles manoeuvred into column. But ACV1 was stuck, its wheels churning uselessly as it tried to reverse out of its pit. Precious minutes went by and nervous fingers drummed on steering wheels. None of the lorries had the power to haul it out. Half an hour passed before ACV5 succeeded in dragging ACV1’s fourteen tons out of the hole. As the column finally moved westward shells began exploding among the vehicles, and some Grant tanks withdrew through and past them, their turrets turned to face backward over their engine covers. Peter Vaux looked around at the command column. Apart from a few light machineguns, it was unprotected.


As we steamed away at best speed the northerly breeze sent a wall of dust from our wheels billowing out to the right. I was sitting on the roof of the ACV while the others were below sorting out maps and radio headsets, when suddenly there was a rattling of machineguns and the thudding of cannon and a column of German armoured cars and half-tracks dashed through the concealing dust and were amongst us, firing in all directions. A number of vehicles stopped, clearly hit, and among these was ACV1, from which I saw some figures jump a moment before it burst into flames. It seemed that the general was being captured.


Before Vaux could see exactly what was happening to the people from ACV1, his attention was caught by a more immediate threat. A German armoured car drove alongside, dwarfed by the massive ACV, and the commander shouted up to him in English, ‘Put your hands up and stop!’ Vaux dived inside and slammed the hatch shut, calling for the Bren gun to be disinterred from the heap of bedding at the bottom of the vehicle.


As the expert on German equipment, his first instinct was to assess the enemy. ‘A Kfz 222 – has a twenty-millimetre cannon with a hundred rounds of armour-piercing as well as its machinegun. Please God let him think we’re a lorry.’ He did. A rattle of bullets bounced harmlessly off the steel sides of the ACV. Inside the relative safety of his armoured truck, Vaux was pleasantly surprised to discover that the disguise had worked. It couldn’t be long before the German realised his mistake and called for some armour-piercing cannon shells, but in the meantime there might be a few seconds for Vaux to get a few shots in himself.


When the machinegun fire stopped I climbed out again with the Bren loaded, but we seemed to have driven clear of the battle, for behind us I could see a lot of smoke and shooting. There were a number of vehicles with us, and it suddenly dawned on me that if anyone was commanding 7 Armoured Division at that moment it must be me, so I hoisted the blue flag and the other vehicles converged on me.


At a junction of two desert tracks, marked by a painted barrel numbered 711, Vaux stopped. He needed to get a grip of the situation. It was not every day that a captain found himself in command of an armoured division, and these were not the ideal circumstances in which to learn the job. The obvious and urgent necessity was to tell Corps what had happened and to get in touch with all the brigades. The problem was that ACV2 was geared to listening to radio signals, not to sending them. The transmitters were not switched on and, when they were, they had to be laboriously tuned in. The operators were having difficulty finding the frequency. On top of this, both ACV3, the signals vehicle, and ACV5, the cipher vehicle, were missing, along with all the communications specialists. The codes for the day had been in ACV1 and they did not know whether the Germans had captured it intact. He could hardly announce in clear language that the better part of the divisional headquarters had just been overrun and that General Messervy had been captured. Vaux found a liaison officer with a motorbike and told him to try to get through to Corps in person. Two of the brigades then did make contact, reporting themselves fighting and too busy to speak much further.


A radio message was sent to Corps, but there was no way of knowing whether it had been understood. At 1020 one of the brigades that Vaux now commanded reported that their position at Retma had been overrun and that they were moving back to reorganise. At 1030 another brigade, the 4 Armoured, reported that it was heavily engaged and had destroyed twenty German tanks. Better news. The Free French were also fighting well, holding the Italians outside Bir Hacheim. Perhaps something could be salvaged after all. Then he saw another ominous dust cloud in the distance and shells began to fall close to what remained of the command column: 90 Light strikes again, he thought bitterly. The only thing seemed to be to retreat farther, so he led his assorted vehicles back in the direction of Sidi Rezegh.
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‘We’re to take that off again.’ There were groans all round.


Since breakfast the crews of C squadron had been disguising their Crusader tanks as lorries. In the distance there was gunfire. Yesterday afternoon it had just been to the north; now it was mainly to the south and it sounded quite close. But for the tanks, laid out facing west, there had been no order to move. Now it looked as though they were preparing to get under way.


Sergeant-Major Neville Gillman was called over to the tank of Viscount Cranley, C squadron’s leader, who gave his fifteen tank commanders their orders: ‘We are to move now on a bearing of 270 degrees. This is it very briefly: a lot of Germans have come up from the south and appear to have taken every bugger by surprise. We are to come up on the right of the line here. A and B squadrons are going forward, and we lucky bastards in C get to watch the flank. Right, let’s fucking well get to work.’ If there were ever an inter-regimental swearing competition, Gillman thought to himself, and not for the first time, then Viscount Cranley would win it by a mile.


He walked back to the tanks, seeing crewmen tightening the tracks, checking the tension on the fan belts and tipping oil into the engines. His driver was already inside, revving up, watching the gauges as he made the V-12 Nuffield ‘Liberty’ engine roar. The Crusader was a notoriously unreliable machine and nobody wanted it to let him down over the next few hours. The gunner, stripped to the waist, was loosening the 2-pounder ammunition in the racks and checking the belt on the machinegun. The radio operator hummed into the microphone, testing for interference. They said little. Gillman repeated the orders, totted up the ready ammo, told the operator to get a few more shells unpacked. Already his throat felt dry. The troop commander’s pennant fluttered over his head and the dust billowed behind the angular Crusader, as it moved slowly away into the open desert.


Neville Gillman had been something of a pacifist once. His family were all Congregationalist, Nonconformists with an independent streak who tended to be rather left wing. He was raised when memories of trench warfare were strong, and he’d sympathised with the students who had carried the notorious Oxford Union motion ‘This House will not fight for King and Country’. In 1936 he began training as an articled clerk. One of his first colleagues, a good mate called Jenkins, was a fierce socialist with loud opinions about how the ruling classes always led the workers into war to benefit their own vested interests. But as Hitler’s power grew, Gillman came to believe that war, if it came, would be in a good cause this time, and that he should be prepared to put himself in the firing line.


He decided to join the Territorial Army in 1939. He applied to the Medical Corps because he thought that he would be able to serve his country without killing but, somewhat comically, he was turned down on medical grounds. His own doctor could find nothing wrong with him except the perverse desire to join the military medics, and suggested he join a ‘proper regiment’ instead. A school-friend recommended the ‘Sharpshooters’. The name sounded good, as did their full title, the County of London Yeomanry. But it still came as something of a shock when on 4 September 1939 trainee accountant Gillman theatrically downed his pen in mid-audit and set off for the Lex Motors garage in London’s fashionable St John’s Wood. There the Sharpshooters kept their three antique Rolls-Royce armoured cars.


The officers were an impressive bunch, expensively educated, many with shiny sports cars and jobs in the best City banks. Jenkins would definitely have called them ‘the class enemy’. There was an Italian count, the son of an ambassador and even the assistant secretary to the MCC. When a big cricket match was called off in the panic that followed the declaration of war, the Sharpshooters were all invited to the members’ enclosure at Lord’s so as not to waste the luncheons.


By May 1940 they were a tank regiment without tanks, and at one point Gillman trained to repel invaders in a commandeered Fyffes banana lorry bristling with machineguns. Then he attended gunnery school at Lulworth Cove and was promoted sergeant. His squadron commander was Viscount Cranley, son of the Earl of Onslow, and he arranged that they might be based in late summer in the grounds of his father’s home, Clandon Park. Despite his background, Cranley was completely unstuffy and informal, and obviously devoted to his men. They called him ‘the Corsican Bandit’ on account of his dark good looks, and they all enjoyed his creative use of common English obscenities.


For a happy interlude Gillman supervised the gunnery school from the viscount’s stable block. There were embarrassing moments, such as the time when an impatient Lady Cranley had stopped Gillman on his way to see his squadron leader and said, ‘Will you tell my husband that I’ve been waiting here for a quarter of an hour.’ When Gillman mentioned this, Cranley replied, ‘Go out and tell her she can bloody well wait to do her shopping until I’m ready.’ He managed to convey the message to her ladyship in slightly more diplomatic terms.


When they sailed for Africa, Gillman’s background in bookkeeping determined his fate. Cranley made him quartermaster sergeant. During the first bloodbath in November 1941, when half the regiment was destroyed, his job had been to organise the supply of petrol, water, ammunition and food. More recently he’d commanded the forward support unit. Every day he drove a hundred miles across the desert with a column of lorries loaded with tank fuel. They had been dive-bombed by Stukas and lost in trackless wastes, but they had kept Cranley’s squadron supplied and got it home every time. He had been code-named ‘Squeaker’ and, inevitably, this became his nickname. Gillman, who was only five foot four, had long ago learned to put up with such things. And it was not meant unkindly. Cranley had been impressed with Gillman’s performance and promoted him to squadron sergeant-major with a troop of three tanks to command.


But before today Gillman had never taken a tank into battle. He fitted his earphones and crouched on the commander’s seat, folding his legs beneath him because he was too small to sit comfortably. He scanned the shimmering horizon through his binoculars.


They soon ran into some Grants from the Gloucester Hussars. Enemy armour was near by, but impossible to locate in all the dust. Then an order came: all available tanks were to retire northward while an artillery screen held the enemy off. They fell back to a position just west of the ‘Knightsbridge box’. Some panzers appeared out of the cloud about five hundred yards to the south and there, for the first time, Neville Gillman opened fire.


‘Gunner, Panzer Mark III in front with the red pennant, range five hundred. Aim for the base of the turret. Got him? Two-pounder fire now.’ Gillman followed the line of the shot. ‘Just over. Down a tank height. Reload and try again.’ The loader dragged the round from the bin and the breech clanged shut. ‘Firing now.’


The instructors said that the best tank men stayed calm and took things slowly. Try not to think of the other man shooting at you, and take your time to get your own aim right. Chances are the enemy is frightened too and will rush, panic and miss. All good advice, no doubt, but hard to put into effect with your head sticking out of a three-foot-by-six-foot metal box that might become a petrol-fuelled bonfire at any moment.


Cranley’s voice was on the radio. ‘OP, see if you can get your battery on to those guns.’ There was a loud bang on the front of Gillman’s tank and the engine stalled. The turret was suddenly full of dust. But no flames, not yet. ‘Driver, are you all right?’ ‘I can’t start the engine.’ There was another hit and the gun turret shook and echoed with the reverberation. Whatever was firing had got their range, and it was only a matter of time before a round caught the front armour at the right angle to kill them all. ‘It’s no good. Engine won’t start.’ ‘Right, get out.’ Gillman called Cranley. ‘We’re hit, sir, all crew OK. Baling out.’ Gillman switched back to the internal circuit to hear the panicky voice of the driver: ‘I’m trapped down here unless you move the turret.’ ‘Sorry. Gunner, traverse forty right and for God’s sake shoot at something, then jump.’


Gillman got behind the machinegun and searched for the flash that would betray the anti-tank gun. They would have a machinegun nearby, just waiting to pick off any escaping tank crews, an unpleasant new escalation in armoured warfare. Gillman had been told that it was sometimes safer to stay in an obviously crippled tank, one that would not attract further fire, rather than risk the machineguns. On the other hand, if the tank was burning, or about to burn, you had little choice. Gillman fired a wide burst anyway in an attempt to cover the driver, who scrambled out of the hatch and scampered safely round to the back of the Crusader. The gunner and operator followed. Then Gillman levered himself out of the turret. At which point the Germans noticed the escape and a clatter of bullets resulted. But from five hundred yards, he reckoned he stood a decent chance, and he made it safely around the back to join the others. The anti-tank crew would have seen him too. They could expect a round of high-explosive any minute, so they all ran for the cover of a nearby gully.


Some minutes later another Crusader approached and they all sprinted for it and clambered on to the back. It began very slowly to reverse. Gillman felt oddly happy. He’d faced the enemy, he’d fired a few shots and he was pretty sure that at least one of them had hit something. And he’d lived to fight for King and Country another day.
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General Alan Brooke was well aware that his biggest problem was a lack of good generals.


Half our Corps and Divisional commanders1 are totally unfit for their appointments, and yet if I were to sack them I could find no better. They lack character, imagination, drive and power of leadership.


The men who led Britain’s desert army had all learned their trade in the Great War. In Flanders they had fought in great battles of attrition, and studied the correct synchronisation of artillery barrage and infantry attack, the importance of barbed wire and machineguns. This was not the ideal preparation for the armoured conflict of the open desert, this war of manoeuvre with combined arms that their enemy practised with such evident skill.


But one general knew something of desert warfare: Sir Claude Auchinleck, Britain’s Commander-in-Chief, Middle East. During the Great War ‘the Auk’, as he was universally known, won victories over the Turks in the deserts and open plains of Egypt and Mesopotamia. In 1940 Auchinleck was a member of Alan Brooke’s anti-invasion team and when Brooke became CIGS, he made him responsible for the vast Middle East theatre. From his bustling headquarters in Cairo, Auchinleck had to worry about Palestine, Syria, Mesopotamia and Persia as well as the war against Rommel.


Auchinleck inspired deep loyalty in those who served under him but, it was said in London, he did not always appoint the best men. His most important subordinate was the commander of Eighth Army. His first choice, Alan Cunningham, had fared so badly that Auchinleck had sacked him halfway through the campaign to relieve Tobruk in late 1941, and led Eighth Army to victory himself. As a stopgap he then appointed a friend and staff officer called Neil Ritchie. Over the past few months Ritchie had made confident noises but looked slightly out of his depth. By the end of May neither Auchinleck in Cairo nor Brooke in London was completely sure of him.


Although Brooke struggled to prevent Churchill from making direct contact with commanders in the field, the Prime Minister had been breathing down Auchinleck’s neck for months, urging an attack because he was concerned about the number of reinforcements reaching Rommel. Auchinleck had resisted what he called Churchill’s ‘prodding’ because there had been a history of hastily and poorly planned offensives in the desert and he did not want to be responsible for yet another one.


Shortly before Rommel’s attack at Gazala, Auchinleck had been called to London for urgent consultations. A politically sensitive general would have obediently flown home and spent an evening in Number 10. It would have begun with recriminations, no doubt, but ended with a long boozy conversation about Napoleon. Then he would have returned to Cairo to continue planning exactly as before. Churchill would have been satisfied that the right man was doing the best that he could and would have turned his attention elsewhere for a while. But Auchinleck had resisted the summons and, when Brooke all but ordered him on to a plane, insisted to the point of rudeness that his proper place was in Cairo.


It was an article of faith with Churchill that grand gestures and bold actions could turn the tide of history. He thought of Nelson at Trafalgar or his own ancestor Marlborough at Blenheim. He also, no doubt, thought of himself in 1940 resisting the logic of defeat while armed with little more than the English language. Since then his restless pursuit of ‘the bold stroke’ had cost his country dear at times, no more so than during the Greek adventure. And yet who could deny that those same qualities had kept the British people engaged in an apparently hopeless war through months of privation and failure?


The great leader steadying and revitalising the nation. The man-boy playing soldiers. With Churchill the one came with the other. Although he dreamed of being a second Marlborough, Churchill was first and foremost a political genius. And it was as a politician that he pressed for his desert offensives. Aware of the poor state of home morale by the spring of 1942, he knew how much a victory in the desert would boost the British people. He also knew how it would reassure the Soviets, who were expecting another German offensive any day.


As the crisis of late May broke over Churchill, Brooke and Auchinleck, the Prime Minister’s reaction would be affected by his irritation at the caution of the past few months. And by a general’s refusal to come and dine at Number 10.
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The survivors of the South Notts observation party, Harold Harper, Ivor Birkin, Bobby Feakins and the radio operator with the broken legs, were still lost in the desert. They couldn’t see much because the movement and fighting all around had thrown up so much dust, but the panzers seemed to have swept past. Suddenly a lone Crusader tank came into view, firing backward as it went. It was moving very slowly and the men seized their chance. The others helped Feakins, whose thigh was still bleeding, up on to the tank. Harper forced Ivor Birkin to leave the body of his brother and together they lifted the radio operator up.


The tank started moving backwards again. Its commander had no idea we had climbed aboard and we had to keep dodging as the turret kept swinging round. High-explosive shells were bursting close by and we were all hit by shrapnel. Feakins fell off and we thought he’d been crushed to death. We kept hammering on the top and eventually they heard us and agreed to take us back to their own base, if they could find it.


Feakins was lucky enough to be picked up later by another stray British tank. The others reached a forward supply base. Harper asked a sergeant-major to take them to hospital. They had all been hit by little pieces of shrapnel, but he was particularly worried about the man with the broken legs.


The sergeant-major said, ‘No, we’re off.’ But another young lad offered to drive us to a field dressing station near by. When we got there an ambulance was about to leave taking people all the way back to the rear areas and safety. We all piled on, but as we were just leaving a lad turned up who’d had his foot blown off by a mine. So I got off for him and said I’d catch the next one.


There wasn’t going to be a next one. Harper could still see the ambulance disappearing into the distance when about a dozen German tanks and armoured cars arrived in the middle of the field hospital. He was now their prisoner, along with all the other wounded men lying around and those treating them.


I surrendered to the sergeant in charge of the nearest tank. He took my revolver but was quite friendly. He asked me to empty my pockets. I had about ten pounds in Egyptian currency, which was quite a lot of money. He laughed and told me to put it away. Then he pulled out a great wad of freshly printed stuff. He said he expected to be in Cairo by 10 June and he’d been given that to spend there. He gave me a bar of chocolate too.


The British colonel in charge of the dressing station heard me speaking in German and came over and asked me to be his interpreter. He had a wagon full of water and he was anxious to keep it. I’d been taught quite a bit of German at school, which was unusual in those days. German lorries began to pull up and ask for the doctor. I pointed out the operating theatre and they brought their wounded in.


In the fast-moving fighting of the desert war, locations often changed hands several times in a day. Field hospitals were generally left unmolested and would accept casualties from both sides. Whoever was in command of that piece of territory at the end of the day would then take prisoner the soldiers of the army that had departed. Some men went into the operating theatre thinking themselves POWs and awoke to find themselves free, and vice versa. But it looked as if Harold Harper was ‘in the bag’ for good.


An hour or so later this car drove up and an imposing figure stepped out and went over to the tanks. It was Rommel. I was standing with the commanding officer of the dressing station when he came over and thanked him for attending to the German wounded. At the height of the battle he took time to say that everything possible would be done to make we British prisoners comfortable, and that he was sorry he couldn’t get any food through as yet, but his officers would try. I couldn’t fail to be impressed.
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It was late afternoon when Peter Vaux stopped again. The vehicles pulled up on the Capuzzo track, beneath the picturesque domed tomb of Sidi Rezegh on its hillside. While Corporal Williams got a brew on, Vaux sat on the steps to the ACV wearing radio headphones and tried to talk to the brigades of the division he now commanded. Earlier 7 Motor Brigade had reported being in combat but now he could not get any answer from them. He did get through to 4 Armoured Brigade, who reported that, after the morning’s fighting, they had 80 ‘runners’ left out of 180. He still had no orders from Corps, who could not have understood his earlier messages. He sent another liaison officer off to find them. Of General Messervy there was no news.


There was more dust in the distance, and once again they were under fire. Nothing very serious but armoured cars and half-tracks were more than a match for them. Vaux ordered the column to move again, heading for Gambut, where there was a big airfield and Eighth Army headquarters. If they were to find safety anywhere it should be there.


Just short of Gambut they stopped again and were met by the missing ACV3. The colonel in charge of signals banged angrily on Peter Vaux’s door and asked where the hell he had been. Vaux’s reply was rather brusque. He suggested that now the proper signallers had reappeared they might like to help him get through to Corps. Finally they got off a cipher message that was understood and acknowledged. Then, during the night, they received some orders at last. What was left of 4 Armoured Brigade was to fall back and come under the command of 30 Corps at first light. The next few hours were spent arranging to get fuel and ammunition through to them. By midnight there was, in truth, not much more for Vaux to do, and only the men around him remained his own responsibility. It would have been time to retire to his tent, had the tent not fallen into enemy hands at breakfast time.


‘You get some sleep, sir. I’ll watch the radio, but I don’t think much more will come through tonight. We’ve found some blankets for you.’


‘Thank you, Corporal.’


He took the blankets from Corporal Paxton and rolled up next to the ACV. For the third year in succession he had been caught up in a chaotic disaster, for the third year in succession he had almost been killed, and for the third year in succession he had lost all his personal possessions. It was barely credible. He thought back to May 1940 when he first made Rommel’s acquaintance at the Battle of Arras. After the battle he had been cut off from his unit and his crew had gone into hiding, trying to escape to their own lines. On 27 May he had been captured by a German officer. He’d killed him and escaped, but in the process he had lost all his kit. In May 1941 they had been sent to recapture the Halfaya Pass. Vaux had survived the ensuing carnage but on 27 May his bag had been shot off the back of his tank and once again he had lost all his things. And now, 27 May 1942, it had happened all over again.
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Forceful confidence followed by sullen despair was a rhythm familiar to those closest to Winston Churchill, but in 1942 the ‘black dog’ moments seemed deeper and longer lasting. The ebullience and good cheer never entirely went away, especially after a good dinner, but the Prime Minister had lost some of his sparkle.


One reason was the recent series of defeats, another the incessant Soviet demands for a Second Front in Europe. Stalin wanted to see an early Anglo-American invasion of France to draw German troops away from his hard-pressed forces. In the spring of 1942 the Red Army was confronting 178 German and 39 other Axis divisions, while the British in North Africa were having difficulty dealing with just three and a half German and six Italian divisions.


When faced with statistics like these Churchill always drew attention to the scale of the war he was trying to fight. In the six months prior to May 1942 British, imperial and dominion forces had been in action throughout the Mediterranean, in East and West Africa, in Madagascar, Syria and the Lebanon, and all over the Far East. They had launched commando raids on the French and Norwegian coast. They had parachuted agents, saboteurs and assassins into occupied Europe. In addition a vast naval effort was under way. Germany was being blockaded and hundreds of merchant ships a month were being convoyed across the Atlantic, through the Mediterranean to embattled Malta and across the Arctic to Russia. The RAF was also fully engaged, running fighter sweeps over northern France and building up the world’s largest night-bomber force. Churchill and his ministers would patiently explain all these commitments to Soviet representatives, and claim that by their actions they were occupying almost as many Axis troops as were fighting in Russia. But the Soviet demand for a Second Front would not go away.


Molotov, Stalin’s foreign minister, visited London in May to receive the unwelcome news that an invasion of France was extremely unlikely in 1942. He then travelled to Washington where President Roosevelt gave him the opposite impression. As May became June the question ‘Who’s in charge here?’ was being asked in more places than the Western Desert.




Chapter 3
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28–30 May
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The American military attaché, Colonel Bonner F. Fellers, was one of the most charming men in Cairo. Energetic, informal, and a great source of wisecracks, Fellers was a regular guest at the British embassy, was on first-name terms with General Auchinleck and all his senior staff, and was even seen at some of Momo Marriott’s rather louche cocktail parties at the Turf Club.


Hermione Knox, Countess of Ranfurly was a well-connected aristocratic lady whose husband was in the Eighth Army. She met Fellers on the luncheon circuit in 1941, describing him as ‘an original and delightful person1 who seems to say exactly what he thinks to everyone regardless of nationality or rank’. He was generous too. When Ranfurly’s husband was captured, Fellers spent weeks searching out information about him from American diplomats in Italy.


As one of the most important Americans in the Mediterranean, Fellers, a forty-six-year-old West Point graduate, could travel just about anywhere he liked and would frequently turn up with a welcome bottle of Scotch or two at Eighth Army’s forward headquarters. Fellers was a great supporter of Lend Lease and, when America came into the war, he celebrated with his British friends with great gusto. After that he spent even more time with senior British officers, driving around in what he called his ‘hearse’, a camouflaged van with a bunk in the back that he used for his trips into the desert.


Fellers was well aware of the Eighth Army’s weaknesses. Over a lunch with Ranfurly in January 1942, he told her that he was in trouble with Washington for being a ‘defeatist’, but said he was only reporting what he had found:


The trouble is your top brass2 are overconfident which they’ve no right to be: your gear is still inferior to the enemy’s, and you are less well led – too many senior officers are sitting on their arses at GHQ.


Fellers kept himself informed about every aspect of British military equipment, tactics and performance, reporting what he learned back to Washington two or three times a week. The planners at the War Department were desperate for up-to-date information about what a modern armoured battle was like, and Fellers’ cables included whatever he could garner for them about Eighth Army’s order of battle, supply situation, tactical plans and appreciation of the enemy. Models of accuracy and insight, the reports helped Washington plan for America’s own future battles. But, unfortunately, that was not all that they did. A great many British soldiers died in May and June 1942 as a result of what was contained in the pages Fellers cabled back to Washington, because most of his cables were placed in Erwin Rommel’s hands within hours.


America was new to war, and to the intense concern about secure communication that war brings. No one in Washington had thought to overhaul the old cipher codes, and some of them had been badly compromised during the past few years of frantic Axis intelligence-gathering. The US diplomatic service’s ‘black’ code was used by the State Department to communicate with America’s embassies, and also by military attachés reporting back from abroad. In 1941 Italian agents broke into the US embassy in Rome, stole a ‘black’ codebook from the safe, copied it and returned it before anyone realised it was missing. From that moment they could read US diplomatic traffic, and they passed some of their intelligence to Rommel. By autumn 1941, in a separate breakthrough, the ‘black code’3 was analysed and deciphered by the German Cipher Branch, OKW/Chi, who picked up the messages from their listening station near Nuremberg. The deciphering of the Fellers’ cables was one of the greatest Axis intelligence coups of the war.


Fellers’ accounts of the situation and plans of the Eighth Army gave Rommel invaluable help in his January 1942 offensive. One cable of 8 January 1942 provided a precise breakdown of the British tank strength:


Estimates (Cairo) on equipment4 (British army) serviceable tanks in Libya: 328; repairable tanks in Libya: 521. Tanks destroyed [last campaign] 374.


Some of the information contained in Fellers’ intercepted cables, such as ‘2 Armoured Brigade of British 1 Armoured Division5 now west of Haseiat …’, was of obvious use to the enemy. Other, smaller details, such as ‘Malta air forces report two [Axis] merchantmen …’,6 alerted the Germans and Italians to imminent attacks on their supply ships.


As he planned Operation Venezia, Rommel received more inadvertent help from the Allies because, by April, Fellers was being invited to Auchinleck’s daily staff conferences in Cairo, which included all details of British army, naval and air operations in the Mediterranean. This produced such messages to Washington as:


To oppose Rommel in the desert the British have:7 1st Armored Division whose combat strength at best is fair; 50th British Division; Polish Brigade deficient in transport; Guards Brigade whose combat efficiency is good;1st South African Division which lost a complete brigade in November; 2nd South African Division which is without transport and is holding the frontier posts. Part of the 10th Armored Division, tankless, is now enroute to the desert. All of these units combined could not stop Rommel were he reinforced as indicated above.


The same document also explained that an Australian corps had gone to the Far East, and gave a complete breakdown of the RAF’s latest strength. Another made it clear that


It will be the end of March before8 the 10th and 7th Armored divisions can be fitted with tanks ready for battle. If present flow of tanks is maintained, British will not have battleworthy armored division ready until June 30.


Knowing which units were under strength and which had transport problems allowed Rommel to target his attacks with great precision. It was a little like playing cards with an exact knowledge of your opponents’ hands.


Other intercepted cables from Fellers contained a complete run-down of British armour and the latest British efficiency ratings of their armoured and mechanised units at the front. One detailed Eighth Army’s knowledge of Rommel’s own forward positions, telling him which of his units was in danger with information such as ‘his outposts on the Tmimi-Mechili line9 are near to strong British forces’. Finally, there was a detailed description of where the British thought the key German units were located in the days before Operation Venezia commenced, down to the level of individual regiments.


According to one member of his intelligence staff


Rommel used to wait for the dispatches10 every evening [before deciding his orders for the next day] … we just knew them as ‘the good source’.


The German High Command was so proud of the intelligence breakthrough that it informed Hitler of it. He announced to his dinner companions one night in June that


It was only to be hoped that the American Minister11 in Cairo [sic] continues to inform us so well over the English military planning through his badly enciphered cables.


[image: images]


The British were given some early indications of the security breach. On 13 April German intelligence sent an urgent warning to the desert to the effect that the British had discovered the location of the Luftwaffe desert headquarters and might attack it at any moment. This warning was in turn decrypted by Britain’s own code-breakers at Bletchley Park (who had cracked the Luftwaffe ‘Enigma’) and handed to Churchill as part of his daily Ultra papers.
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